

All booklets are published thanks to the generous support of the members of the Catholic Truth Society



CATHOLIC TRUTH SOCIETY PUBLISHERS TO THE HOLY SEE

# Foreword

Each one of us is called to "a vital and personal relationship with the living and true God. This relationship is prayer"<sup>1</sup>

There are times in all our lives when we are confronted with tragedy and sadness, with joy and wonder. No matter what our circumstances, the call to this relationship with the God of love is given to each one of us. It is expressed in moments of private prayer and at those times when we gather together as a community of faith.

I am pleased to welcome this Prayer Book for our Armed Services community. We owe a great debt of gratitude to the Knights of St Columba, through whose kindness this book is provided. It is the result of much work and will accompany personnel on operations and at home - and their families and loved ones who are their constant source of love and support.

With every Blessing,

+11-1

**Bishop Richard Moth** 

<sup>1</sup> CCC 2558.

2

b. Forces Simple Praver Book.indd 2

# INTRODUCTION

۲

In 1919 just after the Great War, a group of inspired men had the vision and foresight to establish the Knights of St Columba, an Order of Catholic lay men dedicated to the material and spiritual well-being of our members and their families. It would have been easy in those dark days for our Order to be inward looking and solely care for those closest to us. However, upon joining, we all commit to the principles of Charity, Unity and Fraternity, and the first of these has led us to provide support to countless others, wherever and whenever it's been needed. We decided to mark this great Year of Faith by supporting the spiritual well-being of people of faith outside of our Order. So, we feel privileged and honoured to have been able to assist in providing this Prayer Book for those dedicated men and women in our armed forces, their families and friends. We pray that God will watch over protect and guard you always.

Sincerely in Faith

Ronhyl

Ron Lynch Supreme Knight Knights of St Columba

b. Forces Simple Praver Book.indd 3

# **PRAYERS & DEVOTIONS**

۲

BASIC PRAYERS	6
MORNING, EVENING AND NIGHT PRAYER	8
Morning Prayer	8
During the Day	12
The Angelus	12
Evening Prayer	13
Night Prayer	17
PRAYERS TO THE HOLY SPIRIT	19
PENITENTIAL PRAYERS	22
Sacrament of Reconciliation	22
Going to Confession	24
Stations of the Cross	26
PRAYERS TO OUR LADY	34
The Holy Rosary	34
Other Prayers.	36
PRAYERS FOR VARIOUS NEEDS AND OCCASIONS	38
Act of Faith, Hope and Charity	38
For the Faithful Departed	39
Prayer of Saint Ignatius	
Prayer to Saint Michael	41
In Temptation	42
Prayer for the Pope	43
Prayer for Vocations	44
Prayer for Peace	45
Prayer before a Crucifix	46

۲

( )

# Contents

۲

# THE EUCHARIST

THE ORDER OF MASS	48
The Introductory Rites	48
The Liturgy of the Word	52
The Liturgy of the Eucharist	57
The Communion Rite	68
The Concluding Rites	72
IF YOU CAN'T GET TO MASS	73
Spiritual Communion	73
PRAYERS FOR HOLY COMMUNION	75
Before Holy Communion	75
After Holy Communion	78
THE BLESSED SACRAMENT	81
A Visit to The Blessed Sacrament	81

# **CATHOLIC TEACHING**

SUMMARY OF CHRISTIAN DOCTRINE	88
The Mass Simply Explained	93
The Sunday Obligation	95
Fasting and Abstinence	
Note on Indulgences	97

# PRAYERS FOR THE ARMED FORCES

General Prayers						•		•				 		100
The Royal Navy												 		105
The British Army												 		108
The Royal Air Force						•		•				 		109

( )

۲

# PRAYERS & DEVOTIONS Basic Prayers

# **Our Father**

Our Father, who art in heaven, hallowed be thy name. Thy Kingdom come. Thy will be done on earth as it is in heaven. Give us this day our daily bread, and forgive us our trespasses, as we forgive those who trespass against us, and lead us not into temptation, but deliver us from evil. Amen.

# **Hail Mary**

Hail, Mary, full of grace, the Lord is with thee. Blessed art thou among women, and blessed is the fruit of thy womb, Jesus. Holy Mary, Mother of God, pray for us sinners, now, and at the hour of our death. Amen.

# Glory be to the Father

Glory be to the Father, and to the Son, and to the Holy Spirit. As it was in the beginning, is now, and ever shall be, world without end. Amen.

# BASIC PRAYERS

I believe in God. the Father almighty, Creator of heaven and earth. and in Jesus Christ, his only Son, our Lord, who was conceived by the Holy Spirit, born of the Virgin Mary, suffered under Pontius Pilate, was crucified, died and was buried; he descended into hell: on the third day he rose again from the dead; he ascended into heaven. and is seated at the right hand of God the Father almighty; from there he will come to judge the living and the dead. I believe in the Holy Spirit, the holy catholic Church, the communion of saints. the forgiveness of sins, the resurrection of the body, and life everlasting. Amen.

7

# Morning, Evening – and Night Prayer

# MORNING PRAYER

V. Lord, open our lips.

# R. And we shall praise your name. Glory be to the Father ... (Alleluia)

A hymn, suitable to the time of day or feast, may follow.

# Psalm 99

(*This or alternative psalms may be said*) Cry out with joy to the Lord, all the earth Serve the Lord with gladness. Come before him, singing for joy.

Know that he, the Lord, is God. He made us, we belong to him, We are the people, the sheep of his flock.

Go within his gates, giving thanks. Enter his courts with songs of praise. Give thanks to him and bless his name.

Indeed, how good is the Lord, Eternal his merciful love. He is faithful from age to age. Glory be to the Father ...

#### MORNING, EVENING AND NIGHT PRAYER

# Scripture

# (An alternative passage may be used)

You know what hour it is, how it is full time now for you to wake from sleep. The night is far gone, the day is at hand. Let us cast off the works of darkness and put on the armour of light; let us conduct ourselves becomingly as in the day. (Rm 13:11-13)

### The Benedictus (Lk 1:68-79)

Blessed be the Lord, the God of Israel!
He has visited his people and redeemed them.
He has raised up for us a mighty saviour in the house of David his servant, as he promised by the lips of holy men, those who were his prophets from of old.
A saviour who would free us from our foes, from the hands of all who hate us.
So his love for our fathers is fulfilled and his holy covenant remembered.
He swore to Abraham our father to grant us, that free from fear, and saved from the hands of our foes,

we might serve him in holiness and justice all the days of our life in his presence.

As for you little child, you shall be called a prophet of God, the Most High. You shall go ahead of the Lord to prepare a way for him,

To make known to his people their salvation, through forgiveness of all their sins, the loving kindness of the heart of our God who visits us like the dawn from on high.

He will give light to those in darkness, those who dwell in the shadow of death, and guide us into the way of peace.

Glory be to the Father ...

# Intercessions

(*These or other intercessions may be used*) Let us pray to Christ our Lord, the sun who enlightens all people -

## Lord our Saviour, give us life!

(may be repeated after each line) We thank you for the gift of this new day -May your Holy Spirit guide us to do your will -Help us to manifest your love to all those we meet -Renew in us your gifts. May we go forth in peace -Our Father ...

b. Forces Simple Prayer Book.indd 10

#### MORNING, EVENING AND NIGHT PRAYER

11

# **Concluding prayer**

(

Almighty God, you have given us this day; strengthen us with your power and keep us from falling into sin, so that whatever we say, or think, or do, may be in your service and for the sake of the kingdom.

We ask this through Christ our Lord. Amen.

 $\oplus$  The Lord bless us, keep us from all evil and bring us to everlasting life. Amen.

*Alternative personal prayers may include:* Our Father. Hail Mary. Glory be. I Believe.

# Offering

O my God, I offer you all my thoughts, words, actions, and sufferings; and I beseech you to give me your grace that I may not offend you this day, but may faithfully serve you and do your holy will in all things. I entrust myself completely to your boundless mercy today and always.

O Lord you have brought me to the beginning of a new day. Save me by your power so that I may not fall into any sin. May everything I say, and all that I do, be directed to the performance of your justice, through Christ our Lord. Lord, may everything I do begin with your inspiration, continue with your help and reach conclusion under your guidance.

# Morning offering

O Jesus, through the most pure heart of Mary, I offer you all my prayers, thoughts, works and sufferings of this day for all the intentions of your most Sacred Heart.

O most Sacred Heart of Jesus, I place all my trust in you. O most Sacred Heart of Jesus, I place all my trust in you. O most Sacred Heart of Jesus, I place all my trust in you.

# **DURING THE DAY**

### The Angelus

May be said morning, noon, and night, to put us in mind that God the Son became man for our salvation.

V. The Angel of the Lord declared to Mary:

R. And she conceived of the Holy Spirit. Hail Mary...

V. Behold the handmaid of the Lord:

R. Be it done to me according to your word. Hail Mary...

V. And the Word was made flesh:

**R.** And dwelt among us.

Hail Mary...

V. Pray for us, O holy Mother of God.

# **R.** That we may be made worthy of the promises of Christ.

Let us pray:

Pour forth, we beseech you, O Lord, your grace into our hearts, that we, to whom the Incarnation of Christ, your Son, was made known by the message of an angel, may by his passion and cross # be brought to the glory of his resurrection, through the same Christ our Lord. **R. Amen.** (In Eastertime, the Angelus is replaced by the Regina Caeli, page 36).

# **EVENING PRAYER**

V. O God, come to our aid. R. O Lord, make haste to help us. Glory be to the Father ...

# Hymn

A hymn, suitable to the time of day or feast, may follow, eg: O Trinity of blessed light, O Unity of princely might, The fiery sun now goes his way; Shed thou within our hearts thy ray.

# 14 THE ARMED FORCES SIMPLE PRAYER BOOK

To thee our morning song of praise, To thee our evening prayer we raise; Thy glory suppliant we adore For ever and for evermore.

All laud to God the Father be; All praise, eternal Son, to thee; All glory, as is ever meet, To God the holy Paraclete. Amen.

# Psalm 16

(An alternative psalm may be said) Preserve me, God, I take refuge in you. I say to the Lord: 'You are my God. My happiness lies in you alone'.

He has put into my heart a marvellous love for the faithful ones who dwell in his land. Those who choose other gods increase their sorrows. Never will I offer their offerings of blood. Never will I take their name upon my lips.

O Lord, it is you who are my portion and cup; it is you who are my prize. The lot marked out for me is my delight: welcome indeed the heritage that falls to me!

I will bless the Lord who gives me counsel, who even at night directs my heart.

#### MORNING, EVENING AND NIGHT PRAYER

•

I keep the Lord ever in my sight: since he is at my right hand, I shall stand firm.

And so my heart rejoices, my soul is glad; even my body shall rest in safety. For you will not leave my soul among the dead, nor let your beloved know decay.

You will show me the path of life, the fullness of joy in your presence, at your right hand happiness for ever. Glory be to the Father ...

## Scripture

(An alternative passage may be used)

Let us give thanks to the God and Father of our Lord Jesus Christ, the merciful Father, the God from whom all help comes! He helps us in all our troubles, so that we are able to help those who have all kinds of troubles, using the same help that we ourselves have received from God. (2 *Co* 1:3-4)

# **Magnificat** (*Lk* 1:46-55)

My soul glorifies the Lord, my spirit rejoices in God, my Saviour. He looks on his servant in her lowliness; henceforth all ages will call me blessed. The Almighty works marvels for me. Holy his name!

# 16 THE ARMED FORCES SIMPLE PRAYER BOOK

His mercy is from age to age, on those who fear him. He puts forth his arm in strength and scatters the proud-hearted. He casts the mighty from their thrones and raises the lowly.

He fills the starving with good things, sends the rich away empty.

He protects Israel, his servant,

remembering his mercy,

the mercy promised to our fathers,

to Abraham and his sons for ever.

Glory be to the Father ...

# Intercessions

(*These or other intercessions may be used*) May your kingdom of peace and justice be realised on earth as in heaven -

# Lord, hear our prayer.

(may be repeated after each line)

Show yourself to all who seek you in sincerity of heart
Lord Jesus Christ, light of all the nations, shine upon those who walk in darkness and in the shadow of death
Be with all those who suffer in mind, body or spirit
Show mercy to the dead; bring them to rejoice in the company of the blessed Virgin Mary and all your saints - Our Father ...

b. Forces Simple Prayer Book.indd 16

#### MORNING, EVENING AND NIGHT PRAYER

۲

# **Concluding prayer**

Let our evening prayer rise before you like incense, Lord, and may your blessing shower down upon us: so that now and for ever your grace may heal and save us. We ask this through Christ Our Lord. Amen.  $\oplus$  May the Lord bless us, keep us from all evil and bring us to everlasting life.

Alternative personal prayers may include: Our Father. Hail Mary. Glory be. I Believe.

O my God, I thank you for all the benefits which I have ever received from you, and especially this day. Give me light to see what sins I have committed, and grant me the grace to be truly sorry for them. (*A brief examination of conscience may follow*).

O my God, because you are so good, I am very sorry that I have sinned against you and by the help of your grace I will not sin again.

# NIGHT PRAYER

# **A Night Prayer** (*Lk* 2:29-32)

Antiphon:

Save us Lord, while we are awake; protect us while we sleep; that we may keep watch with Christ and rest with him in peace.

b. Forces Simple Praver Book.indd 17

At last, all-powerful Master, you give leave to your servant to go in peace, according to your promise. For my eyes have seen your salvation which you have prepared for all nations, the light to enlighten the gentiles and give glory to Israel, your people. Glory be to the Father ... Antiphon: Save us Lord...

# On going to bed

Into your hands, O Lord, I commend my spirit: Lord Jesus, receive my soul. In the name of our Lord Jesus Christ crucified, I lay me down to rest. Bless me, O Lord, and defend me; preserve me from a sudden and unprovided death and from all dangers, and bring me to life everlasting with you.



# PRAYERS TO THE HOLY SPIRIT

## **Veni Creator Spiritus**

Come, Holy Spirit, Creator, come from thy bright heavenly throne. Come, take possession of our souls, and make them all thine own Thou who art called the Paraclete. best gift of God above, the living spring, the living fire, sweet unction and true love. Thou who art sevenfold in thy grace, finger of God's right hand; his promise, teaching little ones to speak and understand. O guide our minds with thy blest light, with love our hearts inflame: and with thy strength which never decays, confirm our mortal frame. Far from us drive our deadly foe; true peace unto us bring; and through all perils lead us safe beneath thy sacred wing. Through thee may we the Father know, through thee the eternal Son,

and thee, the Spirit of them both,

thrice-blessed Three in One.

All glory to the Father be, with his co-equal Son; the same to thee, great Paraclete, while endless ages run.

#### Veni Sancte Spiritus

Come, Holy Spirit, come! And from your celestial home Shed a ray of light divine!

Come, Father of the poor! Come, source of all our store! Come, within our bosoms shine.

You, of comforters the best; You, the soul's most welcome guest; Sweet refreshment here below.

In our labour, rest most sweet; Grateful coolness in the heat; Solace in the midst of woe.

O most blessed Light divine, Shine within these hearts of yours, And our inmost being fill!

Where you are not, we have naught, Nothing good in deed or thought, Nothing free from taint of ill.

#### PRAYERS TO THE HOLY SPIRIT

Heal our wounds, our strength renew; On our dryness pour your dew; Wash the stains of guilt away.

Bend the stubborn heart and will; Melt the frozen, warm the chill; Guide the steps that go astray.

On the faithful, who adore And confess you, evermore In your sevenfold gift descend.

Give them virtue's sure reward; Give them your salvation, Lord; Give them joys that never end. Amen.

# **Prayer to the Holy Spirit**

Come, O Holy Spirit, fill the hearts of your faithful, and enkindle in them the fire of your love.

V. Send forth your Spirit and they shall be created.

R. And you shall renew the face of the earth.

Let us pray:

O God, who taught the hearts of the faithful by the light of the Holy Spirit, grant that by the gift of the same Spirit we may be always truly wise and ever rejoice in his consolation. Through Christ our Lord. **R. Amen.** 

# **PENITENTIAL PRAYERS**

# SACRAMENT OF RECONCILIATION

Remember that the sacrament is above all an act of God's love. It is a personal moment to be lived in a relationship of love with God. It is not routine, nor an ordeal to be gone through, but is very much part of the personal renewal which takes place in each person. You are invited, in the light of God's love, to recognise the sinfulness of your life, to have true sorrow for your sins, and a firm intention to avoid them in future.

# Essential elements of a good confession

To make a good confession, we should:

- 1. Pray first, asking God to help us.
- **2.** Make a sincere examination of conscience to see how we have sinned since our last confession.
- 3. Confess our sins simply, with humility and honesty.
- **4.** Make our act of contrition with heartfelt sorrow and a "firm purpose of amendment", being determined that we will avoid the occasions of sin.
- **5.** Devoutly carry out the penance prescribed and pray in thanksgiving for God's overflowing love and mercy.

#### PENITENTIAL PRAYERS

# **Prayer before Confession**

Almighty and merciful God, you have brought me here in the name of your Son to receive your mercy and grace in my time of need. Open my eyes to see the evil I have done. Touch my heart and convert me to yourself. Where sin has separated me from you, may your love unite me to you again: where sin has brought weakness, may your power heal and strengthen; where sin has brought death, may your Spirit raise to new life. Give me a new heart to love you, so that my life may reflect the image of your Son. May the world see the glory of Christ revealed in your Church, and come to know that he is the one whom you have sent, Jesus Christ, your Son, our Lord. Amen.

# **The Confiteor**

I confess to almighty God and to you my brothers and sisters, that I have greatly sinned, in my thoughts and in my words, in what I have done, and in what I have failed to do, through my fault, through my fault, through my most grievous fault; therefore I ask blessed Mary, evervirgin, all the Angels and Saints, and you, my brothers and sisters, to pray for me to the Lord our God.

# GOING TO CONFESSION

(You may take this prayer book with you to Confession)

#### Reception

The priest welcomes the penitent warmly. The penitent and priest begin by making the sign of the cross, while saying: A **In the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit. Amen.** The priest invites you to trust in God. You may indicate your state of life, and anything else which may help the priest as confessor.

# The Word of God

The priest may invite you to reflect on a passage from Holy Scripture, speaking of God's mercy and call to conversion.

# Reconciliation

Then you can speak in your own words or you can say: Bless me Father for I have sinned. My last confession was ... ago (say roughly how long) and these are my sins. Now tell your sins simply in your own words. When you have finished, let the priest know. You can use these words if you wish: I am sorry for all these sins and for any that I cannot now remember.

Listen carefully to the advice of the priest and ask the Holy Spirit to help him to say what is best to help you to grow in the Christian life. You can ask him questions if you

# PENITENTIAL PRAYERS

•

want. The priest may propose an Act of Penance, which should serve not only to make up for the past but also to help begin a new life and provide an antidote to weakness. It may take the form of prayer, self-denial, and especially of service to one's neighbour and works of mercy.

Then the priest invites you to say a prayer of sorrow (an Act of Contrition), such as:

O my God, because you are so good, I am very sorry that I have sinned against you, and by the help of your grace I will not sin again.

Wait while the priest says the prayer of "Absolution" (where Christ forgives you all your sins). Make the sign of the cross as the priest says: I absolve you from your sins in the name of the Father  $\oplus$  and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit. Amen. The priest may say a few final words of encouragement to you as you leave.

# After Confession

Take some time in the quiet of the Church to reflect on the grace of the sacrament and to thank God for his mercy and forgiveness. Here is a prayer of thanksgiving:

Father, in your love you have brought me from evil to good and from misery to happiness. Through your blessings give me the courage of perseverance. Amen.

# STATIONS OF THE CROSS

A Prayer of Preparation (from Psalm 50)

Have mercy on me God, in your kindness. In your compassion blot out my offence. O wash me more and more from my guilt and cleanse me from my sin. A pure heart create for me, O God, put a steadfast spirit within me. Do not cast me away from your presence, nor deprive me of your holy spirit. Give me again the joy of your help; with a spirit of fervour sustain me. For in sacrifice you take no delight, burnt offering from me you would refuse, my sacrifice a contrite spirit. A humbled, contrite heart you will not spurn

V. We adore you, O Christ, and we bless you.

**R.** Because by your holy Cross you have redeemed the world.

#### PENITENTIAL PRAYERS

•

Each Station ends with the prayer:

I love you, Jesus, my love above all things. I repent with my whole heart for having offended you. Never permit myself to separate myself from you again. Grant that I may love you always, and then do with me what you will.

# The First Station - Jesus is condemned to death (John 19:13-16)

Pilate had Jesus brought out, and seating himself on the chair of judgement at a place called the Pavement, in Hebrew Gabbatha. It was Passover Preparation Day, about the sixth hour. 'Here is your King' said Pilate to the Jews. 'Take him away, take him away!' they said. 'Crucify him!' 'Do you want me to crucify your king?' said Pilate. The chief priests answered, 'We have no king except Caesar.' So in the end Pilate handed him over to them to be crucified.

# The Second Station - Jesus is made to carry his cross (Mark 15: 16-21)

The soldiers led him away to the inner part of the palace, that is, the Praetorium, and called the whole cohort together. They dressed him up in purple, twisted some

thorns into a crown and put it on him. And they began saluting him, 'Hail, king of the Jews!' They struck his head with a reed and spat on him; and they went down on their knees to do him homage. And when they had finished making fun of him, they took off the purple and dressed him in his own clothes. Then they led him out to be crucified.

# The Third Station - Jesus falls for the first time (Isaiah 53: 2-5)

Without beauty, without majesty we saw him, no looks to attract our eyes; a thing despised and rejected by men, a man of sorrows and familiar with suffering, a man to make people screen their faces; he was despised and we took no account of him. And yet ours were the sufferings he bore, ours the sorrows he carried. But we, we thought of him as someone punished, struck by God, and brought low. Yet he was pierced through for our faults, crushed for our sins.

b. Forces Simple Prayer Book.indd 28

14/05/2013 10:35

#### PENITENTIAL PRAYERS

•

# The Fourth Station - Jesus meets his Mother (Luke 2: 33-35)

As the child's father and mother stood there wondering at the things that were being said about him, Simeon blessed them and said to Mary his mother, 'You see this child: he is destined for the fall and the rising of many in Israel, destined to be a sign that is rejected – and a sword will pierce your own soul too – so that the secret thoughts of many may be laid bare.'

# The Fifth Station - Simon of Cyrene helps Jesus to carry his Cross (Matthew 11: 28-30 & Mark 15:21)

Come to me all you who labour and are overburdened, and I will give you rest. Shoulder my yoke and learn from me for I am gentle and humble in heart, and you will find rest for your souls. Yes, my yoke is easy and my burden light.

They enlisted a passer-by, Simon of Cyrene, father of Alexander and Rufus, who was coming in from the country, to carry his cross.

# The Sixth Station - Veronica wipes the face of Jesus (Psalm 50)

Have mercy on me God, in your kindness. In your compassion blot out my offence. O wash me more and more from my guilt and cleanse me from my sin.

•

Against you, you alone have I sinned; what is evil in your sight I have done... O purify me, then I shall be clean, O wash me, I shall be whiter than snow.

# The Seventh Station - Jesus fall for the second time (Psalm 21)

Do not leave me alone in my distress; come close, there is none else to help. Like water I am poured out, disjointed are all my bones. My heart has become like wax, it is melted within my breast. Parched as burnt clay is my throat, my tongue cleaves to my jaws.

# The Eighth Station - Jesus speaks to the women of Jerusalem (Luke 23: 27-32)

Large numbers of people followed him, and of women too, who mourned and lamented for him. But Jesus turned to them and said, 'Daughters of Jerusalem, do not weep for me; weep rather for yourselves and for your children. For the days will surely come when people will say, "Happy are those who are barren, the wombs that have never borne, the breasts that have never suckled!" Then

### PENITENTIAL PRAYERS

•

they will begin to say to the mountains, "Fall on us!" to the hills, "Cover us!" For if men use the green wood like this, what will they do when it is dry?"

# The Ninth Station - Jesus falls for the third time (Luke 9: 23-25)

If anyone wants to be a follower of mine, let him renounce himself and take up his cross every day and follow me. For anyone who wants to save his life will lose it; but anyone who loses his life for my sake, that man will save it. What gain, then, is it for a man to have won the whole world and to have lost or ruined his very self?

# The Tenth Station - Jesus is stripped of his garments (John 19:23-24)

The soldiers took his clothing and divided it into four shares, one for each soldier. His undergarment was seamless, woven in one piece from neck to hem; so they said to one another, 'Instead of tearing it, let's throw dice to decide who is to have it.' In this way the words of scripture were fulfilled:

They shared out my clothing among them.

They cast lots for my clothes.

### 32 THE ARMED FORCES SIMPLE PRAYER BOOK

# The Eleventh Station - Jesus is nailed to the Cross (Luke 23:33-34)

•

When they reached the place called the Skull, they crucified him there and the two criminals also, one on the right, the other on the left. Jesus said, 'Father forgive them; they do not know what they are doing.'

# The Twelfth Station - Jesus dies on the Cross (John 19:25-30)

Near the cross of Jesus stood his mother and his mother's sister, Mary the wife of Clopas and Mary of Magdala. Seeing his mother and the disciple he loved standing near her, Jesus said to his mother, 'Woman, this is your son.' Then to the disciple he said, 'This is your mother.' And from that moment the disciple made a place for her in his home.

After this, Jesus knew that everything had now been completed, and to fulfil the scripture perfectly he said: 'I am thirsty.'

A jar full of vinegar stood there, so putting a sponge in vinegar on a hyssop stick, they held it up to his mouth. After Jesus had taken the vinegar he said, 'It is accomplished' and bowing his head he gave up his spirit.

# The Thirteen Station - Jesus is taken down from the Cross (Mark 15:42-46)

•

It was now evening and since it was Preparation Day (that is, the vigil of the Sabbath) there came Joseph of Arimathaea, a prominent member of the Council, who himself lived in the hope of seeing the kingdom of God, and he boldly went to Pilate and asked for the body of Jesus. Pilate, astonished that he should have died so soon, summoned the centurion and enquired if he was already dead. Having been assured of this by the centurion, he granted the corpse to Joseph, who bought a shroud and took Jesus down from the cross.

# The Fourteenth Station - Jesus is laid in the Sepulchre (John 19:38-42)

Joseph of Arimathaea came and took the body away. Nicodemus came as well – the same one who had first come to Jesus at night time – and he brought a mixture of myrrh and aloes, weighing about a hundred pounds. They took the body of Jesus and wrapped it with the spices in linen cloths, following the Jewish burial custom. At the place where he had been crucified there was a garden, and in this garden a new tomb in which no one had yet been buried. Since it was the Jewish Day of Preparation and the tomb was near at hand, they laid Jesus there.

# PRAYERS TO OUR LADY

(

# THE HOLY ROSARY

The Holy Rosary is composed of twenty 'decades', each comprising the Our Father, ten Hail Marys, and the Glory be, recited in honour of some mystery in the life of Our Lord or his Blessed Mother. We pray to practise the virtue specially taught by that mystery.

#### I. The Five Joyful Mysteries (Mondays, Saturdays)

- **1.** The Annunciation. (*Lk* 1:26-38)
- **2.** The Visitation. (*Lk* 1:39-45)
- **3.** The Nativity. (*Lk* 2:1-7)
- **4.** The Presentation in the Temple. (*Lk* 2: 22-35)
- 5. The Finding of the Child Jesus in the Temple. (*Lk* 2:41-52)

#### **II.** The Five Mysteries of Light (*Thursdays*)

- 1. The Baptism of the Lord. (Mt 3:13-17)
- **2.** The Marriage at Cana. (Jn 2:1-12)
- **3.** The Proclamation of the Kingdom and call to conversion. (*Mk* 1:14-15; 2:3-12)
- 4. The Transfiguration. (*Lk* 9:28-36)
- 5. The Institution of the Eucharist. (Mt 26:26-29)

35

# III. The Five Sorrowful Mysteries (*Tuesdays, Fridays*)

•

- 1. The Prayer and Agony in the Garden. (*Mk* 14:32-42)
- 2. The Scourging at the Pillar. (*Mt* 27:15-26)
- 3. The Crowning with Thorns. (*Mt* 27:27-31)
- 4. The Carrying of the Cross. (Jn 19:15-17; Lk 23:27-32)
- 5. The Crucifixion and Death. (*Lk* 23:33-38, 44-46)

# IV. The Five Glorious Mysteries (Wednesdays, Sundays)

- **1.** The Resurrection. (*Mt* 28:1-8)
- 2. The Ascension of Christ into Heaven. (Ac 1:6-11)
- **3.** The Descent of the Holy Spirit. (*Ac* 2:1-12)
- 4. The Assumption. (1 Th 4:13-18)
- **5.** The Coronation of the Blessed Virgin Mary. (*Rv* 12:1; 14:1-5: *Is* 6:1-3)

## The Hail Holy Queen

Hail, holy Queen, mother of mercy; hail, our life, our sweetness, and our hope! To you do we cry, poor banished children of Eve; to you do we send up our sighs, mourning and weeping in this vale of tears. Turn then, most gracious advocate, your eyes of mercy towards us; and after this our exile, show unto us the blessed fruit of your womb, Jesus. O clement, O loving, O sweet Virgin Mary.

# 36 THE ARMED FORCES SIMPLE PRAYER BOOK

# V. Pray for us, O holy Mother of God. R. That we may be made worthy of the promises of Christ.

•

Let us pray: O God, whose only-begotten Son, by his life, death and resurrection, has purchased for us the rewards of eternal life; grant, we beseech you, that meditating on these Mysteries of the most holy Rosary of the Blessed Virgin Mary, we may both imitate what they contain, and obtain what they promise, through the same Christ our Lord. **R. Amen.** (*Indulgences, page 97*)

# **OTHER PRAYERS**

# **The Memorare**

Remember, O most loving Virgin Mary, that it is a thing unheard of, that anyone ever had recourse to your protection, implored your help, or sought your intercession, and was left forsaken. Filled therefore with confidence in your goodness I fly to you, O Mother, Virgin of virgins. To you I come, before you I stand, a sorrowful sinner. Despise not my poor words, O Mother of the Word of God, but graciously hear and grant my prayer.

# The Regina Caeli

V. O Queen of heaven, rejoice! Alleluia. R. For he whom you did merit to bear, Alleluia,

#### PRAYERS TO OUR LADY

V. Has risen as he said, Alleluia.
R. Pray for us to God, Alleluia.
V. Rejoice and be glad, O Virgin Mary, Alleluia,
R. For the Lord has risen indeed, Alleluia.

Let us pray: God our Father, you give joy to the world by the resurrection of your Son, our Lord Jesus Christ. Through the prayers of his mother, the Virgin Mary, bring us to the happiness of eternal life. We ask this through our Lord Jesus Christ, your Son, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever.

R. Amen.

37

# 

# Act of Faith

My God, I believe in you and all that your Church teaches, because you have said it, and your word is true.

## Act of Hope

My God, I hope in you, for grace and for glory, because of your promises, your mercy and your power.

## Act of Charity

My God, because you are so good, I love you with all my heart, and for your sake, I love my neighbour as myself.

### Commendation

Jesus, Mary and Joseph, I give you my heart and my soul. Jesus, Mary and Joseph, assist me in my last agony. Jesus, Mary and Joseph, may I breathe forth my soul in peace with you.

## Act of Resignation

O Lord, my God, whatever manner of death is pleasing to you, with all its anguish, pains and sorrows, I now accept from your hand with a resigned and willing spirit. (*Indulgences, page* 97)

38

#### PRAYERS FOR VARIOUS NEEDS AND OCCASIONS 39

## For the Faithful Departed

Out of the depths I cry to you, O Lord, Lord hear my voice! O let your ears be attentive to the voice of my pleading. If you, O Lord, should mark our guilt, Lord, who would survive? But with you is found forgiveness: for this we revere you. My soul is waiting for the Lord, I count on his word. My soul is longing for the Lord more than watchmen for daybreak. Let the watchman count on daybreak and Israel on the Lord. Because with the Lord there is mercy and fullness of redemption; Israel indeed he will redeem from all its iniquity. (Psalm 130)

V. Eternal rest grant to them, O Lord.
R. And let perpetual light shine upon them.
V. May they rest in peace.
R. Amen.

b. Forces Simple Prayer Book.indd 39

14/05/2013 10:35

Let us pray:

O God, the Creator and Redeemer of all the faithful, grant to the souls of your servants departed the remission of all their sins, that through our pious supplication they may obtain that pardon which they have always desired; who live and reign for ever and ever. **R. Amen.** 

# For help

May the divine assistance remain always with us # and may the souls of the faithful departed, through the mercy of God, rest in peace. Amen.

## **Prayer of Saint Ignatius**

Teach us, good Lord, to serve you as you deserve; to give and not to count the cost; to fight and not to heed the wounds; to toil and not to seek for rest; to labour and not to ask for any reward, save that of knowing that we do your will. Amen.

#### **Prayer of Saint Richard of Chichester**

Thanks be to you, my Lord, Jesus Christ, for all the benefits which you have given me, for all the pains and insults which you have borne for me. O most merciful Redeemer, friend and brother, may I know you more clearly, love you more dearly, and follow you more nearly, day by day. Amen.

#### PRAYERS FOR VARIOUS NEEDS AND OCCASIONS 41

## Prayer to my Guardian Angel

•

O angel of God, my guardian dear to whom God's love commits me here. Ever this day/night be at my side to light, to guard, to rule and guide. Amen.

#### **Prayer to Saint Michael**

St Michael, the Archangel, defend us in the day of battle; be our safeguard against the wickedness and snares of the devil. May God rebuke him, we humbly pray and do you, O Prince of the heavenly host, by the power of God, cast into hell Satan and all the other evil spirits who prowl through the world seeking the ruin of souls. Amen.

## **Prayer for Life**

O Mary, bright dawn of the new world, Mother of the living, to you do we entrust the cause of life.

Look down, O Mother, on the vast numbers of babies not allowed to be born, of the poor whose lives are made difficult, of men and women who are victims of brutal violence, of the elderly and the sick killed by indifference or out of misguided mercy.

Grant that all who believe in your Son may proclaim the Gospel of life with honesty and love to the people of our time.

Obtain for them the grace to accept that Gospel as a gift ever new, the joy of celebrating it with gratitude throughout their lives and the courage to bear witness to it resolutely, in order to build, together with all people of good will, the civilization of truth and love, to the praise and glory of God, the Creator and lover of life. (*Pope John Paul II*)

(

### In Temptation

Lord, save me, or I perish. Keep me close to you by your grace, or I shall sin and fall away from you. Jesus, help me; Mary, help me; my holy Angel, watch over me.

## In Trouble

In all things may the most holy, the most just, and the most lovable will of God be done, praised, and exalted above all for ever. Your will be done, O Lord, your will be done. The Lord has given, the Lord has taken away; blessed be the name of the Lord.

## In Sickness and Pain

Lord, your will be done; I take this for my sins. I offer up to you my sufferings, together with all that my Saviour has suffered for me; and I beg you, through his sufferings, to have mercy on me. Free me from this illness and pain if you will, and if it be for my good. You love me too much to let me suffer unless it be for my good. Therefore, O

b. Forces Simple Prayer Book.indd 42

Lord, I trust myself to you; do with me as you please. In sickness and in health, I wish to love you always.

(

## **Prayer for Chastity**

O my God, teach me to love others with the purity of your holy Mother. Give me the grace to resist firmly every temptation to impure thoughts, words or actions. Teach me always to love with generosity and goodness, to respect myself and others in the way I act and to reverence the way that you have given us for the creation of new life.

### In Thanksgiving

My God, from my heart I thank you for the many blessings you have given to me. I thank you for having created and baptised me, and for having placed me in your holy Catholic Church; and for having given me so many graces and mercies through the merits of Jesus Christ. And I thank you, dear Jesus, for having become a little child for my sake, to teach me to be holy and humble like you; and for having died upon the Cross that I might have pardon for my sins and get to heaven. Also I thank you for all your other mercies, most of all for those you have given me today.

## **Prayer for the Pope**

O almighty and eternal God, have mercy on your servant our Holy Father, the Pope, and direct him according to

your clemency into the way of everlasting salvation; that he may desire by your grace those things that are agreeable to you, and perform them with all his strength. Through Christ our Lord. Amen.

#### **Prayer for Priests**

Father, you have appointed your Son Jesus Christ eternal High Priest. Guide those he has chosen to be ministers of word and sacrament and help them to be faithful in fulfilling the ministry they have received. Grant this through our Lord Jesus Christ, your Son, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

#### **Prayer for Vocations**

Lord Jesus Christ, Shepherd of souls, who called the apostles to be fishers of men, raise up new apostles in your holy Church. Teach them that to serve you is to reign: to possess you is to possess all things. Kindle in the young hearts of our sons and daughters the fire of zeal for souls. Make them eager to spread your Kingdom on earth. Grant them courage to follow you, who are the Way, the Truth and the Life; who live and reign for ever and ever. Amen.

Mary, Queen of the Clergy, pray for us. Help our students who are preparing for the priesthood.

#### PRAYERS FOR VARIOUS NEEDS AND OCCASIONS 45

## **Prayer for Others**

O Jesus, have mercy on your holy Church; take care of it. O Jesus, have pity on poor sinners, and save them from hell. O Jesus, bless my father, my mother, my brothers and sisters, and all I ought to pray for, as your Heart knows how to bless them.

O Jesus, have pity on the poor souls in purgatory and give them eternal rest.

## **Prayer for Christian Unity**

Look mercifully, Lord, on your people, and pour out on us the gifts of your Holy Spirit. Grant that we may constantly grow in love of the truth, and seek the perfect unity of Christians in our prayers and our deeds. Through Christ our Lord. Amen.

#### **Prayer for Peace**

O God, from whom are holy desires, right counsels and just deeds, give to your servants that peace which the world cannot give; that we may serve you with our whole hearts, and live quiet lives under your protection, free from the fear of our enemies. Through Christ our Lord. Amen.

## Anima Christi

Soul of Christ, sanctify me. Body of Christ, save me. Blood of Christ, inebriate me. Water from the side of Christ, wash me. Passion of Christ, strengthen me. O good Jesus, hear me. Within thy wounds hide me. Suffer me not to be separated from thee. From the malicious enemy defend me. In the hour of my death call me, And bid me to come to thee. That with thy saints I may praise thee, For all eternity. Amen.

## Prayer before a Crucifix

Behold, O kind and most sweet Jesus, I cast myself on my knees in your sight, and with the most fervent desire of my soul, I pray and beseech you that you would impress upon my heart lively sentiments of faith, hope, and charity, with a true repentance for my sins, and a firm desire of amendment, while with deep affection and grief of soul I ponder within myself and mentally contemplate your five most precious wounds; having before my eyes that which David spoke in prophecy of you, O good Jesus: 'They pierced my hands and my feet; they have numbered all my bones'. (*Indulgences, page* 97)

# SECTION HEAD

47

(

# Grace before meals

A Bless us, O Lord, and these your gifts which we are about to receive from your bounty. Through Christ our Lord. Amen.

# Grace after meals

✤ We give you thanks, almighty God, for all your benefits, who live and reign, world without end. Amen.
✤ May the souls of the faithful departed, through the mercy of God, rest in peace. Amen.

# THE EUCHARIST

THE ORDER OF MASS

## **INTRODUCTORY RITES**

The faithful dispose themselves properly to celebrate the Eucharist.

Before Mass begins, the people gather in a spirit of recollection, preparing for their participation in the Mass. All stand during the entrance procession.

## Sign of the Cross

After the Entrance Chant, the Priest and the faithful sign themselves with the Sign of the Cross:Priest: In the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit.

**Response: Amen.** 

## Greeting

The Priest greets the people, with one of the following:
1. Pr. The grace of our Lord Jesus Christ, and the love of God, and the communion of the Holy Spirit be with you all.
2. Pr. Grace to you and peace from God our Father and the Lord Jesus Christ.

3. Pr. The Lord be with you.

48

*The people reply:* 

#### R. And with your spirit.

The Priest, or a Deacon, or another minister, may very briefly introduce the faithful to the Mass of the day.

## **Penitential Act**

*There are three forms of the Penitential Act which may be chosen from as appropriate.* **Pr.** Brethren (brothers and sisters).

let us acknowledge our sins, and so prepare ourselves to celebrate the sacred mysteries. *A brief pause for silence follows. Then one of the following forms is used*:

1. I confess to almighty God and to you, my brothers and sisters, that I have greatly sinned, in my thoughts and in my words, in what I have done and in what I have failed to do, (*and*, striking their breast, they say:) through my fault, through my fault, through my most grievous fault; therefore I ask blessed Mary ever-Virgin, all the Angels and Saints, and you, my brothers and sisters, to pray for me to the Lord our God.

49

2. Pr. Have mercy on us, O Lord.
R. For we have sinned against you.
Pr. Show us, O Lord, your mercy.
R. And grant us your salvation.

Invocations naming the gracious works of the Lord may be made, as in the example below: **3. Pr.** You were sent to heal the contrite of heart: Kyrie, eleison. Lord, have mercy. Or: R. Lord, have mercy. OrKyrie, eleison. **Pr.** You came to call sinners: Christ, have mercy. Christe, eleison. OrChriste, eleison. **R.** Christ, have mercy. Or: Pr. You are seated at the right hand of the Father to intercede for us: Lord, have mercy. Or: Kyrie, eleison. R. Lord, have mercy. Or: Kyrie, eleison.

The absolution by the Priest follows: **Pr.** May almighty God have mercy on us, forgive us our sins, and bring us to everlasting life.

# R. Amen.

The Kyrie, eleison (Lord, have mercy) invocations follow, unless they have just occurred.

4

Pr. Lord, have mercy.	R. Lord, have mercy.
Pr. Christ, have mercy.	R. Christ, have mercy.
Pr. Lord, have mercy.	R. Lord, have mercy.
Or:	
Pr. Kyrie, eleison.	R. Kyrie, eleison.
Pr. Christe, eleison.	R. Christe, eleison.
Pr. Kyrie, eleison.	R. Kyrie, eleison.

## The Gloria

On Sundays (outside of Advent and Lent), Solemnities and Feast Days, this hymn is either sung or said:

Glory to God in the highest, and on earth peace to people of good will.

We praise you, we bless you, we adore you, we glorify you, we give you thanks for your great glory, Lord God, heavenly King, O God, almighty Father. Lord Jesus Christ, Only Begotten Son, Lord God, Lamb of God, Son of the Father, you take away the sins of the world, have mercy on us; you take away the sins of the world, receive our prayer; you are seated at the right hand of the Father,

have mercy on us.

For you alone are the Holy One, you alone are the Lord, you alone are the Most High, Jesus Christ, with the Holy Spirit, in the glory of God the Father. Amen.

When this hymn is concluded, the Priest, says:

**Pr.** Let us pray.

And all pray in silence. Then the Priest says the Collect prayer, which ends:

R. Amen.

# THE LITURGY OF THE WORD

By hearing the word proclaimed in worship, the faithful again enter into a dialogue with God.

## **First Reading**

The reader goes to the ambo and proclaims the First Reading, while all sit and listen. The reader ends:

The word of the Lord.

## **R.** Thanks be to God.

It is appropriate to have a brief time of quiet between readings as those present take the word of God to heart.

## Psalm

The psalmist or cantor sings or says the Psalm, with the people making the response.

# Second Reading

On Sundays and certain other days there is a second reading. It concludes with the same response as above.

## Gospel

The assembly stands for the Gospel Acclamation. Except during Lent the Acclamation is:

**R. Alleluia** *During Lent the following forms are used:* 

R. Praise to you, O Christ, king of eternal glory! Or:

R. Praise and honour to you, Lord Jesus! Or:

**R. Glory and praise to you, O Christ!** Or:

R. Glory to you, O Christ, you are the Word of God!

At the ambo the Deacon, or the Priest says:

**Pr.** The Lord be with you.

## **R.** And with your spirit.

**Pr.** A reading from the holy Gospel according to N. *He makes the Sign of the Cross on the book and, together with the people, on his forehead, lips, and breast.* 

# R. Glory to you, O Lord.

At the end of the Gospel:

**Pr.** The Gospel of the Lord.

R. Praise to you, Lord Jesus Christ.

After the Gospel all sit to listen to the homily.

#### The Homily

Then follows the Homily, which is preached by a Priest or Deacon on all Sundays and Holydays of Obligation. After a brief silence all stand.

#### The Creed

On Sundays and Solemnities, the Profession of Faith will follow. The Apostles' Creed may be used.

## The Niceno-Constantinopolitan Creed

I believe in one God, the Father almighty, maker of heaven and earth, of all things visible and invisible. I believe in one Lord Jesus Christ, the Only Begotten Son of God, born of the Father before all ages. God from God, Light from Light, true God from true God, begotten, not made, consubstantial with the Father; through him all things were made. For us men and for our salvation he came down from heaven, (*all bow*) and by the Holy Spirit was incarnate of the Virgin Mary, and became man.

•

For our sake he was crucified under Pontius Pilate, he suffered death and was buried, and rose again on the third day in accordance with the Scriptures. He ascended into heaven and is seated at the right hand of the Father. He will come again in glory to judge the living and the dead and his kingdom will have no end. I believe in the Holy Spirit, the Lord, the giver of life, who proceeds from the Father and the Son, who with the Father and the Son is adored and glorified, who has spoken through the prophets.

I believe in one, holy, catholic and apostolic Church. I confess one Baptism for the forgiveness of sins and I look forward to the resurrection of the dead and the life of the world to come. Amen.

## The Apostles' Creed

I believe in God, the Father almighty Creator of heaven and earth, and in Jesus Christ, his only Son, our Lord, (*all bow*) who was conceived by the Holy Spirit, born of the Virgin Mary, suffered under Pontius Pilate,

was crucified, died and was buried; he descended into hell; on the third day he rose again from the dead; he ascended into heaven, and is seated at the right hand of God the Father almighty; from there he will come to judge the living and the dead. I believe in the Holy Spirit, the holy catholic Church, the communion of saints, the forgiveness of sins, the resurrection of the body, and life everlasting. Amen.

## The Prayer of the Faithful (Bidding Prayers)

Intentions will normally be for the Church; for the world; for those in particular need; and for the local community. After each there is time for silent prayer, followed by the next intention, or concluded with a sung phrase such as **Christ, hear us**, or **Christ graciously hear us**, or by a responsory such as:

Let us pray to the Lord.

R. Grant this, almighty God. Or:

R. Lord, have mercy. Or:

R. Kyrie, eleison.

The Priest concludes the Prayer with a collect.

b. Forces Simple Prayer Book.indd 56

# THE LITURGY OF THE EUCHARIST

For Catholics, the Eucharist is the source and summit of the whole Christian Life.

After the Liturgy of the Word, the people sit and the Offertory Chant begins. The faithful express their participation by making an offering, bringing forward bread and wine for the celebration of the Eucharist.

#### **Preparatory Prayers**

Standing at the altar, the Priest takes the paten with the bread and holds it slightly raised above the altar with both hands, saying:

**Pr.** Blessed are you, Lord God of all creation, for through your goodness we have received the bread we offer you:

fruit of the earth and work of human hands,

it will become for us the bread of life.

## **R. Blessed be God for ever.**

The Priest then takes the chalice and holds it slightly raised above the altar with both hands, saying:

**Pr.** Blessed are you, Lord God of all creation, for through your goodness we have received the wine we offer you:

fruit of the vine and work of human hands,

it will become our spiritual drink.

# R. Blessed be God for ever.



The Priest completes additional personal preparatory rites, and the people rise as he says:

**Pr.** Pray, brethren (brothers and sisters),

that my sacrifice and yours

may be acceptable to God,

the almighty Father.

R. May the Lord accept the sacrifice at your hands for the praise and glory of his name, for our good and the good of all his holy Church.

### The Prayer over the Offerings

The Priest says the Prayer over the Offerings, at the end of which the people acclaim: **R. Amen.** 

## **Eucharistic Prayer II**

**Pr.** The Lord be with you.

R. And with your spirit.

Pr. Lift up your hearts.

**R.** We lift them up to the Lord.

**Pr.** Let us give thanks to the Lord our God.

#### **R.** It is right and just.

**Pr.** It is truly right and just, our duty and our salvation, always and everywhere to give you thanks, Father most holy, through your beloved Son, Jesus Christ, your Word through whom you made all things,

#### The Order of Mass

whom you sent as our Saviour and Redeemer, incarnate by the Holy Spirit and born of the Virgin.

Fulfilling your will and gaining for you a holy people, he stretched out his hands as he endured his Passion, so as to break the bonds of death and manifest the

resurrection.

And so, with the Angels and all the Saints we declare your glory,

as with one voice we acclaim:

Holy, Holy, Holy Lord God of hosts. Heaven and earth are full of your glory. Hosanna in the highest. Blessed is he who comes in the name of the Lord. Hosanna in the highest.

**Pr.** You are indeed Holy, O Lord, the fount of all holiness. Make holy, therefore, these gifts, we pray, by sending down your Spirit upon them like the dewfall, so that they may become for us the Body and *★* Blood of our Lord Jesus Christ.

At the time he was betrayed and entered willingly into his Passion, he took bread and, giving thanks, broke it, and gave it to his disciples, saying:

'TAKE THIS, ALL OF YOU, AND EAT OF IT, FOR THIS IS MY BODY, WHICH WILL BE GIVEN UP FOR YOU.' 59

In a similar way, when supper was ended, he took the chalice and, once more giving thanks, he gave it to his disciples, saying:

'Take this, all of you, and drink from it, for this is the chalice of my Blood, the Blood of the New and Eternal Covenant, which will be poured out for you and for Many for the forgiveness of Sins. Do this in Memory of Me.'

Pr. The mystery of faith.

The people continue, acclaiming one of the following:

1. We proclaim your Death, O Lord, and profess your Resurrection until you come again.

2. When we eat this Bread and drink this Cup, we proclaim your Death, O Lord, until you come again.

**3.** Save us, Saviour of the world, for by your Cross and Resurrection you have set us free.

**Pr.** Therefore, as we celebrate the memorial of his Death and Resurrection, we offer you, Lord,

the Bread of life and the Chalice of salvation, giving thanks that you have held us worthy to be in your presence and minister to you. Humbly we pray that, partaking of the Body and Blood of Christ, we may be gathered into one by the Holy Spirit.

Remember, Lord, your Church, spread throughout the world, and bring her to the fullness of charity, together with N. our Pope and N. our Bishop\* and all the clergy.

In Masses for the Dead, the following may be added: Remember your servant N., whom you have called (today) from this world to yourself. Grant that he (she) who was united with your Son in a death like his, may also be one with him in his Resurrection.

Remember also our brothers and sisters who have fallen asleep in the hope of the resurrection, and all who have died in your mercy: welcome them into the light of your face. Have mercy on us all, we pray, that with the Blessed Virgin Mary, Mother of God,

\* Mention may be made here of the Coadjutor Bishop, or Auxiliary Bishops.

with the blessed Apostles, and all the Saints who have pleased you throughout the ages, we may merit to be coheirs to eternal life, and may praise and glorify you through your Son, Jesus Christ. *The Priest takes the chalice and the paten with the host*: Through him, and with him, and in him, O God, almighty Father, in the unity of the Holy Spirit, all glory and honour is yours, for ever and ever.

#### R. Amen.

Then follows the Communion Rite, p. 68.

## **Eucharistic Prayer III**

Pr. The Lord be with you.
R. And with your spirit.
Pr. Lift up your hearts.
R. We lift them up to the Lord.
Pr. Let us give thanks to the Lord our God.
R. It is right and just.
Pr. It is truly right and just, our duty and our salvation, Always and everywhere to give you thanks, Lord, holy father, almighty and eternal God.
For, although you have no need of our praise, Yet our thanksgiving is itself your gift,

Since our praises add nothing to your greatness But profit us for salvation, Through Christ our Lord. And so, in company with the choirs of Angels, We praise you, and with joy we proclaim: Holy, Holy, Holy Lord God of hosts. Heaven and earth are full of your glory. Hosanna in the highest. Blessed is he who comes in the name of the Lord. Hosanna in the highest. Pr. You are indeed Holy, O Lord, and all you have created rightly gives you praise, for through your Son our Lord Jesus Christ, by the power and working of the Holy Spirit, you give life to all things and make them holy, and you never cease to gather a people to yourself, so that from the rising of the sun to its setting a pure sacrifice may be offered to your name.

Therefore, O Lord, we humbly implore you: by the same Spirit graciously make holy these gifts we have brought to you for consecration, that they may become the Body and ♥ Blood of your Son our Lord Jesus Christ, at whose command we celebrate these mysteries.

For on the night he was betrayed he himself took bread,

and, giving you thanks, he said the blessing, broke the bread and gave it to his disciples, saying:

'TAKE THIS, ALL OF YOU, AND EAT OF IT, FOR THIS IS MY BODY, WHICH WILL BE GIVEN UP FOR YOU.' In a similar way, when supper was ended,

he took the chalice, and, giving you thanks, he said the blessing, and gave the chalice to his disciples, saying:

'Take this, all of you, and drink from it, for this is the chalice of my Blood the Blood of the new and eternal covenant, which will be poured out for you and for many for the forgiveness of sins. Do this in memory of me.'

**Pr.** The mystery of faith. *The people continue, acclaiming one of the following:* **1. We proclaim your Death, O Lord, and profess your Resurrection until you come again.** 

2. When we eat this Bread and drink this Cup, we proclaim your Death, O Lord, until you come again.

b. Forces Simple Prayer Book.indd 64

#### The Order of Mass

# **3.** Save us, Saviour of the world, for by your Cross and Resurrection you have set us free.

**Pr.** Therefore, O Lord, as we celebrate the memorial of the saving Passion of your Son, his wondrous Resurrection and Ascension into heaven, and as we look forward to his second coming, we offer you in thanksgiving this holy and living sacrifice.

Look, we pray, upon the oblation of your Church and, recognizing the sacrificial Victim by whose death you willed to reconcile us to yourself, grant that we, who are nourished by the Body and Blood of your Son and filled with his Holy Spirit, may become one body, one spirit in Christ.

May he make of us an eternal offering to you, so that we may obtain an inheritance with your elect, especially with the most Blessed Virgin Mary,

Mother of God, with your blessed Apostles and glorious Martyrs (with Saint N.: *the Saint of the day or Patron Saint*) and with all the Saints,

on whose constant intercession in your presence we rely for unfailing help.

May this Sacrifice of our reconciliation, we pray, O Lord, advance the peace and salvation of all the world. Be pleased to confirm in faith and charity your pilgrim Church on earth, with your servant N. our Pope and N. our Bishop<sup>\*</sup>, the Order of Bishops, all the clergy, and the entire people you have gained for your own.

Listen graciously to the prayers of this family, whom you have summoned before you: in your compassion, O merciful Father, gather to yourself all your children scattered throughout the world.

† To our departed brothers and sisters
and to all who were pleasing to you
at their passing from this life,
give kind admittance to your kingdom.
There we hope to enjoy for ever the fullness of your glory
through Christ our Lord,
through whom you bestow on the world all that is good ‡

through whom you bestow on the world all that is good.†

*The Priest takes the chalice and the paten with the host:* Through him, and with him, and in him,

O God, almighty Father,

in the unity of the Holy Spirit,

all glory and honour is yours,

for ever and ever.

#### R. Amen.

\* Mention may be made here of the Coadjutor Bishop, or Auxiliary Bishops.

## Then follows the Communion Rite, p. 68.

When this Eucharistic Prayer is used in Masses for the Dead, the following may be said: † Remember your servant N. whom you have called (today) from this world to yourself. Grant that he (she) who was united with your Son in a death like his. may also be one with him in his Resurrection, when from the earth he will raise up in the flesh those who have died. and transform our lowly body after the pattern of his own glorious body. To our departed brothers and sisters, too, and to all who were pleasing to you at their passing from this life, give kind admittance to your kingdom. There we hope to enjoy for ever the fullness of your glory, when you will wipe away every tear from our eyes. For seeing you, our God, as you are, we shall be like you for all the ages and praise you without end, (He joins his hands.) through Christ our Lord, through whom you bestow on the world all that is good.

# THE COMMUNION RITE

Eating and drinking together the Lord's Body and Blood in a paschal meal is the culmination of the Eucharist.

#### The Lord's Prayer

After the chalice and paten have been set down, the congregation stands and the Priest says: Pr. At the Saviour's command and formed by divine teaching. we dare to say: Together with the people, he continues: Our Father, who art in heaven, hallowed be thy name; thy kingdom come, thy will be done on earth as it is in heaven. Give us this day our daily bread, and forgive us our trespasses, as we forgive those who trespass against us; and lead us not into temptation, but deliver us from evil. Pr. Deliver us, Lord, we pray, from every evil, graciously grant peace in our days, that, by the help of your mercy, we may be always free from sin and safe from all distress. as we await the blessed hope and the coming of our Saviour, Jesus Christ.

# **R.** For the kingdom, the power and the glory are yours now and for ever.

#### **The Peace**

**Pr.** Lord Jesus Christ, who said to your Apostles: Peace I leave you, my peace I give you; look not on our sins, but on the faith of your Church, and graciously grant her peace and unity in accordance with your will. Who live and reign for ever and ever. **R. Amen.** 

**Pr.** The peace of the Lord be with you always.

## **R.** And with your spirit.

Then the Deacon, or the Priest, adds: **Pr.** Let us offer each other the sign of peace. And all offer one another the customary sign of peace.

## **Breaking of the Bread**

Then the Priest takes the host, breaks it over the paten, and places a small piece in the chalice, saying quietly:

**Pr.** May this mingling of the Body and Blood of our Lord Jesus Christ bring eternal life to us who receive it.

Meanwhile the following is sung or said:

- Lamb of God, you take away the sins of the world, have mercy on us.
- Lamb of God, you take away the sins of the world, have mercy on us.
- Lamb of God, you take away the sins of the world, grant us peace.

## **Invitation to Communion**

All kneel; The Priest genuflects, takes the host and, holding it slightly raised above the paten or above the chalice says aloud:

Pr. Behold the Lamb of God,

behold him who takes away the sins of the world. Blessed are those called to the supper of the Lamb.

**R.** Lord, I am not worthy

that you should enter under my roof,

but only say the word

and my soul shall be healed.

While the Priest is receiving the Body of Christ, the Communion Chant begins.

#### **Communion Procession**

After the priest has reverently consumed the Body and Blood of Christ he takes the paten or ciborium and approaches the communicants. The Priest raises a host slightly and shows it to each of the communicants, saying: Pr. The Body of Christ. R. Amen. When Communion is ministered from the chalice: Pr. The Blood of Christ. R. Amen.

After the distribution of Communion, if appropriate, a sacred silence may be observed for a while, or a psalm or other canticle of praise or a hymn may be sung. Then, the Priest says:

**Pr.** Let us pray.

# **Prayer after Communion**

All stand and pray in silence for a while, unless silence has just been observed. Then the Priest says the Prayer after Communion, at the end of which the people acclaim: **R. Amen.** 

# THE CONCLUDING RITES

The Mass closes, sending the faithful forth to put what they have celebrated into effect in their daily lives.

Any brief announcements follow here. Then the dismissal takes place.

**Pr.** The Lord be with you.

# **R.** And with your spirit.

The Priest blesses the people, saying:

Pr. May almighty God bless you,

the Father, and the Son, ₱ and the Holy Spirit.

# R. Amen.

*Then the Deacon, or the Priest himself says the Dismissal*: **Pr.** Go forth, the Mass is ended.

#### R. Thanks be to God. Or:

Pr. Go and announce the Gospel of the Lord.

#### **R. Thanks be to God.** Or:

Pr. Go in peace, glorifying the Lord by your life.

## R. Thanks be to God. Or:

**Pr.** Go in peace.

**R.** Thanks be to God.

Then the Priest venerates the altar as at the beginning. After making a profound bow with the ministers, he withdraws.

# IF YOU CAN'T GET TO MASS

•

# SPIRITUAL COMMUNION

Spiritual Communion is the heartfelt desire to receive Our Lord, even when we are unable because of the distance or for some other reason. This desire to receive him through spiritual Communion is an act of love which prolongs our thanksgiving even when we are not in the Eucharistic presence of Our Lord. The wish to live constantly in his presence can be fuelled by acts of love and desire to be united with him and is a means of drawing more deeply from the life of the Holy Spirit dwelling within our souls in the state of grace. 'The effects of a sacrament can be received by desire. Although in such a case the sacrament is not received physically ... nevertheless the actual reception of the sacrament itself brings with it fuller effect than receiving it through desire alone (St Thomas Aquinas). The writings of the saints reveal many formulae for making a spiritual Communion:

# Acts of Spiritual Communion

My Jesus, I believe that You are truly present in the Most Holy Sacrament. I love You above all things, and I desire to receive You into my soul. Since I cannot at this moment



receive You sacramentally, come at least spiritually into my heart. I embrace You as being already there and unite myself wholly to You. Never permit me to be separated from You. Amen.

(St Alphonsus Liguori)

I wish, my Lord, to receive You with the purity, humility and devotion with which your Most Holy Mother received You, with the spirit and fervour of the saints. Come Lord Jesus.

Give me, good Lord, a longing to be with You ... give me warmth, delight and quickness in thinking upon You. And give me Your grace to long for Your holy sacraments, and specially to rejoice in the presence of Your very blessed Body, Sweet Saviour Christ, in the Holy Sacrament of the altar. (*St Thomas More*)

# - Prayers for Holy Communion -

Say these Prayers slowly, a few words at a time. It is well to stop after every few words, that they may sink into the heart. Each Prayer may be said several times.

#### **Prayer before Mass**

O God, to whom every heart is open, every desire known and from whom no secrets are hidden; purify the thoughts of our hearts by the inspiration of your Holy Spirit, that we may perfectly love you, and worthily praise your holy name. Amen.

# BEFORE HOLY COMMUNION

#### **Prayer for Help**

O God, help me to make a good Communion. Mary, my dearest mother, pray to Jesus for me. My dear Angel Guardian, lead me to the Altar of God.

#### Act of Faith

O God, because you have said it, I believe that I shall receive the Sacred Body of Jesus Christ to eat, and his Precious Blood to drink. My God, I believe this with all my heart.

#### Act of Humility

My God, I confess that I am a poor sinner; I am not worthy to receive the Body and Blood of Jesus, on account of my sins. Lord, I am not worthy to receive you under my roof; but only say the word, and my soul will be healed.

#### Act of Sorrow

My God, I detest all the sins of my life. I am sorry for them, because they have offended you, my God, you who are so good. I resolve never to commit sin any more. My good God, pity me, have mercy on me, forgive me.

#### Act of Adoration

O Jesus, great God, present on the Altar, I bow down before you. I adore you.

#### Act of Love and Desire

Jesus, I love you. I desire with all my heart to receive you. Jesus, come into my poor soul, and give me your Flesh to eat and your Blood to drink. Give me your whole Self, Body, Blood, Soul and Divinity, that I may live for ever with you.

#### PRAYERS FOR HOLY COMMUNION

•

#### **Prayer of St Thomas Aquinas**

Almighty and ever-living God, I approach the sacrament of your only-begotten Son, our Lord Jesus Christ. I come sick to the doctor of life, unclean to the fountain of mercy, blind to the radiance of eternal light, poor and needy to the Lord of heaven and earth. Lord in your great generosity, heal my sickness, wash away my defilement, enlighten my blindness, enrich my poverty, and clothe my nakedness. May I receive the bread of angels, the King of kings and Lord of lords, with humble reverence, with purity and faith, with repentance and love and the determined purpose that will help to bring me to salvation. May I receive the sacrament of the Lord's body and blood and its reality and power. Kind God, may I receive the body of your only begotten Son, our Lord Jesus Christ, born from the womb of the Virgin Mary, and so be received into his mystical body and numbered among his members. Loving Father, as on my earthly pilgrimage I now receive your beloved Son under the veil of a sacrament, may I one day see him face to face in glory, who lives and reigns with you for ever. Amen.

#### **Receiving Holy Communion**

When the priest or minister says "The Body of Christ", answer "Amen" and receive the sacred host with reverence. If you receive Holy Communion in the hand,

place the host reverently into your mouth before returning to your place. If Holy Communion is given from the chalice, answer "Amen" when the priest or minister says "The Blood of Christ"; take the chalice and drink a little of the precious blood, taking care not to spill any. Say in your heart, with all the faith of St Thomas "My Lord and my God". Jesus is now really present in you. Keep away all earthly thoughts and enjoy his presence.

(

# **AFTER HOLY COMMUNION**

#### I give you thanks

I give you thanks, Lord, Holy Father, everlasting God. In your great mercy, and not because of my own merits, you have fed me a sinner and your unworthy servant, with the precious body and blood of your Son, our Lord Jesus Christ. I pray that this Holy Communion may not serve as my judgement and condemnation, but as my forgiveness and salvation. May it be my armour of faith and shield of good purpose, root out in me all that is evil and increase every virtue. I beseech you to bring me a sinner, to that great feast where, with your Son and the Holy Spirit you are the true light of your holy ones, their flawless blessedness, everlasting joy and perfect happiness. Through Christ our Lord. Amen. (*St Thomas Aquinas*)

#### PRAYERS FOR HOLY COMMUNION

#### Act of Faith

O Jesus, I believe that I have received your Flesh to eat and your Blood to drink, because you have said it, and your word is true. All that I have and all that I am are your gift and now you have given me yourself.

#### Act of Adoration

O Jesus, my God, my Creator, I adore you, because from your hands I came and with you I am to be happy for ever.

#### Act of Humility

O Jesus, I am not worthy to receive you, and yet you have come to me that my poor heart may learn of you to be meek and humble.

#### Act of Love

Jesus, I love you; I love you with all my heart. You know that I love you, and wish to love you daily more and more.

#### Act of Thanksgiving

My good Jesus, I thank you with all my heart. How good, how kind you are to me. Blessed be Jesus in the most holy Sacrament of the Altar.

#### Act of Offering

O Jesus, receive my poor offering. Jesus, you have given yourself to me,

b. Forces Simple Praver Book.indd 79

۲

and now let me give myself to you: I give you my body, that I may be chaste and pure. I give you my soul, that I may be free from sin. I give you my heart, that I may always love you. I give you my every breath that I shall breathe, and especially my last. I give you myself in life and in death,

that I may be yours for ever and ever.

#### For Yourself

O Jesus, wash away my sins with your Precious Blood. O Jesus, the struggle against temptation is not yet finished. My Jesus, when temptation comes near me, make me strong against it. In the moment of temptation may I always say: "My Jesus, mercy! Mary, help!"

O Jesus, may I lead a good life; may I die a happy death. May I receive you before I die. May I say when I am dying: "Jesus, Mary and Joseph, I give you my heart and my soul". *Listen now for a moment to Jesus Christ; perhaps he has something to say to you. Answer Jesus in your heart, and tell him all your troubles. Then say:* 

#### For Perseverance

Jesus, I am going away for a time, but I trust not without you. You are with me by your grace. I resolve never to leave you by mortal sin. Although I am so weak I have such hope in you. Give me grace to persevere. Amen.

# **A VISIT TO THE BLESSED SACRAMENT**

Sitting or kneeling before Jesus truly present in the Blessed Sacrament, it may be helpful to reflect on the love and tenderness of our Lord, by meditating upon this (or another) passage of Scripture:

'No one can come to me unless he is drawn by the Father who sent me, and I will raise him up at the last day. It is written in the prophets: They will all be taught by God, and to hear the teaching of the Father, and learn from it. is to come to me. Not that anybody has seen the Father, except the one who comes from God: he has seen the Father. I tell you most solemnly, everybody who believes has eternal life. I am the bread of life. Your fathers ate the manna in the desert and they are dead; but this is the bread that comes down from heaven. so that a man may eat it and not die. I am the living bread which has come down from heaven.

Anyone who eats this bread will live for ever; and the bread that I shall give is my flesh, for the life of the world.' Then the Jews started arguing with one another: 'How can this man give us his flesh to eat?' they said. Jesus replied: I tell you most solemnly, if you do not eat the flesh of the Son of Man and drink his blood you will not have life in you. Anyone who does eat my flesh and drink my blood has eternal life. and I shall raise him up on the last day. For my flesh is real food and my blood is real drink. He who eats my flesh and drinks my blood lives in me and I live in him. As I, who am sent by the living Father, myself draw life from the Father, so whoever eats me will draw life from me. This is the bread come down from heaven: not like the bread our ancestors ate: they are dead, but anyone who eats this bread will live for ever.' He taught this doctrine at Capernaum, in the synagogue. After hearing it, many of his followers said, 'This is

#### EUCHARISTIC ADORATION

•

intolerable language. How could anyone accept it?' Jesus was aware that his followers were complaining about it and said, 'Does this upset you? What if you should see the Son of Man ascend to where he was before?

'It is the spirit that gives life,

the flesh has nothing to offer.

The words I have spoken to you are spirit and they are life.

But there are some of you who do not believe.'

For Jesus knew from the outset those who did not believe, and who it was that would betray him. He went on, 'This is why I told you that no one could come to me unless the Father allows him'. After this, many of his disciples left him and stopped going with him.

Then Jesus said to the Twelve, 'What about you, do you want to go away too?' Simon Peter answered, 'Lord, who shall we go to? You have the message of eternal life, and we believe; we know that you are the Holy One of God.' (*John* 6:44-69)

#### A Quarter of an Hour before the Blessed Sacrament

To please Me, dear child, it is not necessary to know much; all that is required is to love Me much, to be deeply sorry for ever having offended Me and desirous of being ever faithful to Me in future.

Speak to Me of the poor you wish to comfort; tell Me all that now fills your mind and heart. Are there any you wish to commend to Me? Tell Me their names, and tell Me what you would wish Me to do for them. Do not fear, ask for much, I love generous hearts, which, forgetting themselves, wish well to others.

•

Speak to Me of the poor you wish to comfort; tell Me of the sick that you would wish to see relieved. Ask of Me something for those who have been unkind to you, or who have crossed you. Ask much for them all; commend them all with your heart to Me.

And ask Me many graces for yourself. Are there not many graces you would wish to name that would make you happier in yourself, more useful and pleasing to others, more worthy of the love of Me, the dearest Lord, master, and Spouse of your soul? Tell Me the whole list of the favours you want of Me. Tell Me them humility, knowing how poor you are without them, how unable to gain them by yourself; ask for them with much love, that they may make you more pleasing to Me. With all a child's simplicity, tell Me how self-seeking you are, how proud, vain, irritable, how cowardly in sacrifice, how lazy in work, uncertain in your good resolutions, and then ask Me to bless and crown your efforts. Poor child, fear not, blush not at the sight of so many failings; there are Saints in heaven who had the faults you have; they came to Me •

lovingly, they prayed earnestly to Me, and My grace has made them good and holy in My sight.

You should be Mine, body and soul; fear not, therefore, to ask of Me gifts of body and mind, health, judgment, memory and success. Ask for them for My sake; that God may be glorified in all things. I can grant everything, and never refuse to give what may make a soul dearer to Me and better able to fulfil the will of God.

Have you no plans for the future which occupy, perhaps distress, your mind? Tell Me your hopes, your fears. Is is about your future state? Your position among My creatures? Some good you wish to bring to others? In what shall I help and bless your good will?

And for Me you must have, have you not, some zeal, some wish to do good to the souls of others. Some, perhaps, who love and care for you, have ceased, almost, to know or care for Me. Shall I give you strength, wisdom and tact, to bring these poor ones close to my heart again? Have you failed in the past? Tell Me how you acted; I will show you why you did not gain all you expected; rely on Me, I will help you, and will guide you to lead others to Me.

And what crosses have you, My dear Child? Have they been many and heavy ones? Has someone caused you pain? Someone wounded your self-love? Slighted you? Injured you? Lay your head upon My breast, and tell Me

0

(4)

how you suffered. Have you felt that some have been ungrateful to you, and unfeeling towards you? Tell Me all, and in the warmth of My heart you will find strength to forgive and even to forget that they have ever wished to pain you.

•

And what fears have you, My child? My providence shall comfort you. My love sustains you. I am never away from you, never can abandon you. Are some growing cold in the interest and love they had for you? Pray to Me for them; I will restore them to you if it be better for you and your sanctification.

Have you got some happiness to make known to me? What has happened since you came to me last, to console you, to gladden and give you joy. What was it? A mark of true friendship you received? A success unexpected and almost unhoped for? A fear suddenly taken away from you? And did you remember me the while, that in all it was My will, My love, that brought all that your heart has been so glad to have? It was my hand, My dear child, that guided and prepared all for you. Look to me now, My child and say: "Dear Jesus, I thank you!"

You will soon leave Me now, what promises can you make me? Let them be sincere ones, humble ones, full of love and desire to please Me. Tell me how carefully you will avoid occasions of sin, drive from you all that leads to to harm, and shun the world – the great deceiver of souls.

b. Forces Simple Prayer Book.indd 86

#### EUCHARISTIC ADORATION

Promise me to be kind to the poor; loving, for my sake, to friends; forgiving to your enemies, and charitable to all, not in words alone and actions, but in your very thoughts. When you have little love for you neighbour, whom you see, you are forgetting Me who am hidden from you.

Love all my saints; seek the help of your holy patrons. I love to glorify them by giving you much through them. Love, above all, My own sweet glorious Mother – she is your mother; love her, speak to her often, and she will bring you to me Me, and for her sake, I will love and bless you more each day.

Return soon to Me again, but come with your heart empty of the world, for I have many more favours to give, more than you can know of; bring your heart so that I may fill it with many gifts of My love.

87

# CATHOLIC TEACHING – SUMMARY OF CHRISTIAN DOCTRINE –

•

Reference to the *Catechism of the Catholic Church*, which is an "organic presentation of the Catholic faith in its entirety", can enrich this brief summary (*Catechism* 18).

1. We believe that the existence of God can be known with certainty by the natural light of human reason. God revealed himself to us as a personal and loving God. We believe that God is one God in three persons, the Father, the Son and the Holy Spirit. God the Son, the second person of the Blessed Trinity, was made man, died upon the Cross to save us and rose triumphant from the dead. We believe that the human person is created body and soul with free will. God wills every person to be saved for eternal life in the Kingdom of heaven. It is possible for us to reject God through sin and be separated from him forever in hell.

**2.** We believe all that is contained in the Creed. The Creed is divided into three parts: "the first part speaks of the first divine Person and the wonderful work of creation; the next speaks of the second divine Person and the mystery of his redemption of men; the final part speaks of the third divine Person, the origin and source of our sanctification" (*Catechism* 190).

#### CATHOLIC TEACHING

•

**3.** Jesus Christ founded the Church to continue his teaching and sanctifying work on earth until the end of time. "In order to preserve the Church in the purity of the faith handed on by the apostles, Christ who is the Truth willed to confer on her a share in his own infallibility" (*Catechism* 889). Mindful of the words of Christ "he who hears you hears me" (*Luke* 10:16), we believe what the Church teaches us in matters of faith and morals.

#### The Ten Commandments of God

The Ten Commandments are a privileged expression of the natural law. This law is made known to us by divine revelation and by human reason (*Catechism* 2070).

- **1.** I am the Lord your God: you shall not have strange gods before me.
- **2.** You shall not take the name of the Lord your God in vain.
- 3. Remember to keep holy the Lord's day.
- 4. Honour your father and your mother.
- 5. You shall not kill.
- 6. You shall not commit adultery.
- 7. You shall not steal.
- 8. You shall not bear false witness against your neighbour.
- 9. You shall not covet your neighbour's wife.
- 10. You shall not covet your neighbour's goods.

#### The Seven Sacraments

•

The seven sacraments are outward signs of inward grace, given by Jesus Christ. "Celebrated worthily in faith, the sacraments confer the grace that they signify. They are efficacious because in them Christ himself is at work" (*Catechism* 1127).

**1.** *Baptism*: by which we are made Christians, children of God, members of his holy Church, and heirs of heaven.

**2.** *Confirmation*: by which we receive the Holy Spirit, to make us strong and perfect Christians, and soldiers of Christ.

**3.** *The Holy Eucharist*: which is really and truly and substantially the Body and Blood, the Soul and Divinity, of Jesus Christ, under the appearances of bread and wine. The Holy Eucharist is not only a Sacrament, in which we receive our divine Lord for the food and nourishment of our souls, and in which he is really present to be adored upon the altar; it is also a Sacrifice, the Sacrifice of the Holy Mass, in which, at the time of consecration, the bread and wine are changed into the Body and Blood of Jesus Christ, and in which he is offered up for us to his eternal Father.

**4.** Penance: by which the sins committed after Baptism are forgiven.

#### CATHOLIC TEACHING

 $(\mathbf{\Phi})$ 

**5.** *Anointing of the Sick*: which, in dangerous illness, and in preparation for death, comforts the soul, remits sins, and restores health if God sees this to be expedient.

**6.** *Holy Orders*: by which Bishops, Priests, and Deacons receive power and grace to perform their sacred duties.

7. *Matrimony*: which is the Sacrament of Christian Marriage.

#### The Five Precepts of the Church

**1.** You shall attend Mass on Sundays and on holy days of obligation and remain free from work or activity that could impede the sanctification of such days.

2. You shall confess your sins at least once a year.

**3.** You shall receive the sacrament of the Eucharist at least during the Easter season.

**4.** You shall observe the days of fasting and abstinence established by the Church.

5. You shall help to provide for the needs of the Church.

#### The Three Theological Virtues

Faith, Hope, and Charity.

# **The Four Cardinal Virtues**

Prudence, Justice, Fortitude, and Temperance.

#### The Seven gifts of the Holy Spirit

Wisdom, Understanding, Right Judgement, Courage, Knowledge, Reverence, the Spirit of Wonder and Awe in the presence of God.

#### The Twelve fruits of the Holy Spirit

Charity, Joy, Peace, Patience, Goodness, Kindness, Longsuffering, Mildness, Faith, Modesty, Self-control, Chastity.

#### The Seven Corporal Works of Mercy

To feed the hungry; to give drink to the thirsty; to clothe the naked; to harbour the harbourless; the visit the sick; to visit the imprisoned; to bury the dead.

#### The Seven Spiritual Works of Mercy

To counsel the doubtful; to instruct the ignorant; to admonish sinners; to comfort the afflicted; to forgive offences; to bear wrongs patiently; to pray for the living and the dead.

#### The Seven Deadly Sins and Opposite Virtues

Pride, Avarice, Lust, Anger, Gluttony, Envy, Sloth. Humility, Liberality, Chastity, Meekness, Temperance, Brotherly Love, Diligence.

#### CATHOLIC TEACHING

•

# THE MASS SIMPLY EXPLAINED

"At the Last Supper, on the night he was betrayed, our Saviour instituted the Eucharistic sacrifice of his Body and Blood. This he did in order to perpetuate the sacrifice of the cross throughout the ages until he should come again, and so to entrust to his beloved Spouse, the Church, a memorial of his death and resurrection: a sacrament of love, a sign of unity, a bond of charity, a Paschal banquet 'in which Christ is consumed, the mind is filled with grace, and a pledge of future glory is given to us'" (*Catechism* 1323).

First we come together in one place to celebrate the Eucharist in communion with the whole Church. At our head is Christ, the High Priest. The Bishop or priest acts in the person of Christ.

The word of God in the inspired scriptures is proclaimed. The homily encourages us to accept this word and to put it into practice. In the intercessions, we pray for the Church, for the world, for those in need and for local needs.

The offerings of bread and wine are placed upon the altar and offered by the priest in the name of Christ. The Creator's gifts are placed into the hands of Christ who, in his sacrifice perfects all human attempts to offer sacrifice.

•

The Eucharistic Prayer is the heart and summit of the whole celebration. The priest gives thanks to God in the preface and we praise him in union with the angels and saints. The priest asks the Father to send the Holy Spirit upon the gifts of bread and wine so that they truly become the body and blood of Jesus Christ. His one, eternal sacrifice offered for us upon the cross is made present. The Church calls to mind the passion, death and resurrection of Christ, which are made present in the Eucharist. The prayer reminds us that we offer the Eucharist in communion with the Bishop of Rome, the local Bishop and the whole Church throughout the world.

In Holy Communion, we share in the sacred and heavenly banquet and receive the body and blood of Christ as the "bread of heaven" and the "chalice of salvation", the food and life of our souls (*Catechism* 1346).

#### Who may receive Holy Communion

To receive Holy Communion, we must be "in communion" with the Church: we should be in a state of grace, keep the fast of one hour (not required for the elderly or sick), and we should prepare devoutly to receive the sacrament. The Church encourages those who are properly disposed to receive Holy Communion whenever they participate in the Mass.

#### CATHOLIC TEACHING

Those who are living together as husband and wife but who are not married, or who are married outside the Church without permission may not receive Holy Communion.

If we are conscious of having committed a mortal sin, we should make a sacramental confession before receiving Holy Communion.

# THE SUNDAY OBLIGATION

The first commandment of the Church binds all Catholics to attend Mass on all Sundays and Holy days of Obligation.

This is a grave obligation on our conscience, unless some really serious cause prevents us. To come in late, wilfully or through carelessness, when Mass has begun, is at least a venial sin. To miss Mass when you cannot help it, or when it would be very difficult for you to attend Mass, is not a sin. So, if you were to miss Mass because you were ill, or because you had to stay at home to mind a sick person or children, or because you were a very long way from church, or if for some other reason you could not go, it would not be a sin. When you cannot go to Mass, say the Mass prayers yourself at home, if possible. (*See page* 73, *above*).

# **FASTING AND ABSTINENCE**

The age at which abstinence becomes binding is fourteen. The obligation of fasting is restricted to those who have completed their eighteenth year and it continues until they have begun their sixtieth.

Fasting and abstinence are binding throughout the Church on Ash Wednesday and Good Friday.

The law of the Church requires Catholics on Fridays to abstain from meat, or some other form of food, or to observe some form of penance laid down by the local Bishops' Conference. (*Code of Canon Law* 1251)

The Bishops of England and Wales have decided that in England and Wales this penance should be fulfilled simply by abstaining from meat and by uniting this to prayer. Those who cannot or choose not to eat meat as part of their normal diet should abstain from some other food of which they regularly partake.

#### **The Eucharistic Fast**

1. Water (and medicine) may be taken at any time.

**2.** Solid food and drinks may be taken up to one hour before Holy Communion.

**3.** Those who are advanced in age or who suffer from any infirmity, as well as those who take care of them, can receive Holy Communion even if they have taken something during the previous hour.

#### CATHOLIC TEACHING

# NOTE ON INDULGENCES

An indulgence is a remission before God of the temporal punishment due to sins whose guilt has already been forgiven, which the faithful Christian who is duly disposed gains under certain prescribed conditions through the action of the Church which, as the minister of redemption, dispenses and applies with authority the treasury of the satisfactions of Christ and the saints. An indulgence is partial or plenary according as it removes either part or all of the temporal punishment due to sin. The faithful can gain indulgences for themselves or apply them to the dead. To understand this doctrine and practice of the Church, it is necessary to understand that sin has a double consequence. Grave sin deprives us of communion with God and therefore makes us incapable of eternal life, the privation of which is called the "eternal punishment" of sin. On the other hand every sin, even venial, entails an unhealthy attachment to creatures, which must be purified either here on earth, or after death in the state called Purgatory. This purification frees one from what is called the "temporal punishment" of sin. These two punishments must not be conceived of as a kind of vengeance inflicted by God from without, but as following from the very nature of sin (Catechism 1471-2).

To gain a plenary indulgence it is necessary to perform the work to which the indulgence is attached and to fulfill the following three conditions:

(

- Sacramental Confession,
- Holy Communion,
- Prayer for the intention of the Holy Father.

It is further required that all attachment to sin, even venial sin, be absent. If this disposition is in any way less than perfect or if the prescribed three conditions are not fulfilled, the indulgence will be partial only.

The condition of praying for the intention of the Sovereign Pontiff is fully satisfied by reciting one Our Father and one Hail Mary; nevertheless, each one is free to recite any other prayer according to his piety and devotion.

#### A partial indulgence is granted to the faithful who:

**1.** In the performance of their duties and in bearing the trials of life, raise their mind with humble confidence to God, adding even if only mentally - some pious invocation.

**2.** In a spirit of faith and mercy give of themselves or of their goods to serve their brothers in need.

**3.** In a spirit of penance voluntarily deprive themselves of what is licit and pleasing to them.

#### CATHOLIC TEACHING

#### For Specific prayers and devotions

*The Holy Rosary* (p.34): A plenary indulgence, for the recitation of the Rosary (five decades), in a church or public oratory or in the family. If said privately, a partial indulgence.

The Way of the Cross (p.26): A plenary indulgence.

*Prayer before a Crucifix* (p.46): A plenary indulgence, on the Fridays in Lent and Passiontide. At other times a partial indulgence.

Act of Resignation (p.38): A partial indulgence. A plenary indulgence at the hour of death, if properly disposed and the habit of reciting some prayers.

۲

# PRAYERS FOR THE ARMED FORCES

(

# GENERAL PRAYERS

#### Service of Remembrance

#### Chaplain (or other officiant)

"Jesus said, I am the resurrection and the life, he who believes in me will live, even though he dies, and whoever lives and believes in me will never die."

We are come together to mourn for our comrade(s) Nomen; and to pray for their bereaved family and friends.

As Christians, we believe that those who die in Christ share eternal life with him. Therefore in faith and hope we offer our prayers of trust and thanksgiving to God. Facing the certainty of our own death and judgement we yet proclaim that Christ is indeed risen, and that all who believe in him will rise with him.

Heavenly Father, in your Son Jesus Christ you have give us a true faith and sure hope, strengthen this faith and hope in all our days, that we may live as those who believe in the communion of saints, the forgiveness of sins, and the resurrection of the body to eternal life through your Son Jesus Christ. Amen.

#### PRAYERS FOR THE ARMED FORCES 101

#### Psalm 23

"The Lord is my shepherd: there is nothing I shall want. Fresh and green are the pastures where he gives me repose. Near restful waters he leads me; he revives my soul.

He guides me along the right path for the sake of his name. Though I should walk in the valley of the shadow of death, no evil would I fear, for you are with me. Your crook and your staff will give me comfort.

You have prepared a table before me in the sight of my foes. My head you have anointed with oil; my cup is overflowing.

Surely goodness and mercy shall follow me all the days of my life. In the Lord's own house shall I dwell for length of days unending."

# Chaplain

We remember with thanksgiving at God's throne of grace all those who have died during operational service. We remember this day especially:....

Merciful God, you have made us all and given your Son for our redemption. We commend our brethren to your perfect mercy and wisdom, for in you alone we put our trust. Amen.

They shall grow not old as we that are left grow old; Age shall not weary them nor the years condemn; At the going down of the sun, and in the morning, We will remember them.

# R. We will remember them.

Last Post The Silence The Reveille The Kohima Epigram "When you go home, tell them of us and say, For your tomorrow we gave our today."

Our Father...

103

Chaplain

Let us Pray (A service prayer or Regimental Collect may be said).

#### A Prayer for the Armed Forces

O Lord our God, we commend to thy gracious care and keeping the men and women of the Armed Forces,

(Especially those serving on operations in...)

We ask you to protect them from all danger to body and soul; to give the a loyal, courageous and disciplined spirit; to instil in them the love of justice and liberty, and to grant that they may be called to serve only for the establishment of peace throughout the world;

For the sake of Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

#### A Prayer for the bereaved

Give faith and comfort, O Lord, to all who are bereaved and in sorrow, especially to the... family, strengthen them and their friends to meet the days to come with steadfastness and patience, but in thankful remembrance of your mercy in the past, and waiting for that joyful reunion in heaven; through Christ our Lord.

Amen.

#### A Prayer for Rest

O Lord, support us everyday day of this troubled life, until the shadows lengthen and the evening comes and the busy world is hushed, the fever of life is over and our work is done. Then, Lord, in your mercy, grant us safe lodging, a holy rest, and peace at the last; through Christ Jesus our Lord. Amen.

#### **Prayer Pledge**

I pray this day for;

All members of the Armed Forces currently serving overseas; at sea, on land and in the air.

Those who have returned home injured or maimed and those suffering in mind, body or spirit.

Families, friends and military colleagues grieving the loss of one who has died on active service.

Those in the Armed Forces whose task it is to use their professionalism and skills in the service of our Sailors, Marines, Soldiers, and Air Force personnel.

#### **Prayer for Vocations to Military Chaplaincy**

(

O Lord Jesus Christ, instil in the hearts of priests the desire to dedicate their lives to you as chaplains to our Armed Forces.

Give courage and compassion to those who serve you as Forces chaplains.

My their hearts be filled with zeal and love of you so that your name may be better known and loved, for you live and reign for ever and ever.

# THE ROYAL NAVY

#### **The Naval Prayer**

O eternal Lord God, who alone spreadest out the heavens and rulest the raging of the sea; who hast compassed the waters with bounds until day and night come to an end: Be pleased to receive into thy almighty and most gracious protection the persons of us thy servants and the Fleet in which we serve. Preserve us from the dangers of the sea and of the air and from the violence of the enemy; that we may be a safeguard unto our most gracious Sovereign Lady, Queen Elizabeth and her dominions, and a security for such as pass on the seas upon their lawful occasions; that the inhabitants of our Islands and Commonwealth

may in peace and quietness serve thee our God; and that we may return in safety to enjoy the blessings of the land with the fruits of our labours and with a thankful remembrance of thy mercies to praise and glorify thy holy Name; through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

•

#### **The Royal Marines Prayer**

O eternal Lord God, who through many generations has united and inspired the members of our Corps, grant your blessing, we beseech you, on Royal Marines serving all around the Globe. Bestow your crown of righteousness upon all our efforts and endeavours, and may our laurels be those of gallantry and honour, loyalty and courage. We ask these things in the name of him whose courage never failed, our Redeemer, Jesus Christ. Amen.

#### The Fleet Air Arm Prayer

O God, who dwells above the water and has the power to still the raging of the sea, accept the prayers of all your servants who commit their lives to the dangers of the sea and the air. In all their ways, enable them to serve you in a godly and faithful way, and in their Christian lives reflect your glory throughout the world. Through all their journeys, watch over them that they may overcome evil, temptation or anything that harms their souls, so that through all the changes and chances of this life, you will bring them by your mercy to the sure promise of your everlasting kingdom, through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

#### A Submariner's Prayer

O Father, hear our prayer to Thee From your humble servants beneath the sea: In the depths of oceans oft we stray, So far from night, so far from day; We would ask your guiding light to glow To make our journey safe below. Please oft times grant us patient mind, Then 'ere the darkness won't us blind. We seek thy protection from the deep Please grant us peace whene'er we sleep. Of our homes and loved ones far away We ask you care for each day Until we surface once again To drink the air and feel the rain We ask your guiding hand to show A safe progression sure and slow Dear Lord, please hear our prayer to Thee For your humble servants beneath the sea. Amen

# THE BRITISH ARMY

#### **Soldier's Prayer**

Almighty God,

whose command is overall and whose love never fails, let me be aware of your presence and obedient to your will.

Help me to accept my share of responsibility with strong heart and cheerful mind.

Make me considerate of those with whom I live and serve, and faithful to the duties my country has entrusted to me. Let my uniform remind me daily of the traditions of the Army in which I serve.

When I am tempted to sin, let me resist. When I fail, give me courage to try again. Guide me with the light of your truth, and keep before me the example of Jesus in whose name I pray and in whom I trust.

# The Prayer of the Royal Military Academy, Sandhurst

(

Almighty God,

whose Son, the Lord of all Life, came not to be served but to serve: help us to be masters of ourselves that we may be servants of others, and teach us to serve to lead, through the same Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

# THE ROYAL AIR FORCE

#### The Royal Air Force Collect 2

Almighty God, who makest the clouds thy chariots and walkest upon the wings of the storm, look in mercy we beseech thee upon the Royal Air Force. Make us a tower of strength to our Queen and to our country. Help us to do our duty with prudence and with fearlessness, confident that in life or in death the eternal God is our refuge and strength. Grant this for Jesus Christ's sake. Amen.

#### The Royal Air Force Collect 3

(

Holy Spirit, Breath of God, who dost inspire and sustain man's destiny, quicken we beseech Thee, the hearts and minds of all who serve in the Royal Air Force; that those who fly may brave the perils of the air with courage; that those who labour on the ground may be infused with zeal and devotion; and that all who bear the burden and heat of the day may be refreshed with the live-giving power of thy grace; through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

#### The Royal Air Force Regiment's Collect

Almighty God, Lord of heaven and earth, whose son Jesus Christ showed us the path of duty, we beseech thee to bless all who serve in the Royal Air Force Regiment. Help us to do our duty with courage and dedication. Of thy goodness be our strength in times of danger, watch over our loved ones when we are separated, and make us a sure defence to those we serve. We ask this in the name of Jesus Christ our Lord.

Amen.

#### Prayer for the Foundation of the Royal Air Force

Lord God, we remember the courage and dedication of those, who in past days took to the air, and pioneered the Royal Air Force we know today. Especially we remember the sacrifice of the few for the many in times of war and strife. Grant that, being inspired by their example, we may follow them in their endeavours to work for a world in which peace and justice reign supreme, through Jesus Christ our Lord.

Amen.

#### A Prayer for The Royal Air Force

Almighty God, you have promised that they who wait on

you shall renew their strength,

they shall rise up on wings as eagles;

they shall run and not be weary,

they shall walk and not faint.

We commend to your Fatherly protection all who serve in

the Royal Air Force.

and especially for today's graduating pilots and navigators. Encourage and inspire us in all our efforts,

so that we may be a safeguard to our Sovereign Lady,

Queen Elizabeth,

and a sure defence to our nation.

Help us to fulfil our duties with honour,

goodwill and integrity,

and grant that we may prove worthy successors to those who by their valour and sacrifice did nobly save their day and generation.

Through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

#### Prayer of the Royal Air Force College Cranwell

Dear Lord, teach me to be generous; teach me to serve You as You deserve; to give and not to count the cost, to fight and not to count the wounds, to toil and not to heed the wounds, to toil and not to seek for rest, to labour and not to ask for reward save that of knowing I am doing Your Will. (St Ignatius Loyola)